RECEIVED

Oct 21 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Patrick Cleburne Fant III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000474

David D. Stalk.....Appellant,

v.

The State of South CarolinaRespondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ELIZABETH FRANKLIN-BEST
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 113
Columbia, South Carolina 29204
(803) 445-1333

Attorney for Petitioner

QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether the circuit court erred in finding David Stalk voluntarily waived his right to appeal the denial of his first post-conviction relief order of dismissal?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

David Stalk was indicted by a Lancaster County Grand Jury for murder, attempted armed robbery, and possession of a deadly weapon during the commission of a violent crime in May 2013. The indictments came after the alleged armed robbery and death of Kelvisus Anthony in January 2013. Mr. Stalk intended to enter a guilty plea to manslaughter, but later changed his mind. He proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable R. Knox McMahan on January 13-17, 2014, and was found guilty on all charges as indicted. Mr. Stalk was represented by Lancaster County Assistant Public Defender Mark Beard at trial. Judge McMahan sentenced him to concurrent terms of 45 years for murder, 20 years for attempted armed robbery, and five years for the weapons charge. Through counsel, Mr. Stalk timely filed a direct appeal, arguing the trial court erred in failing to suppress his confession because the statement was made following a promise of leniency, and threats or promises were made to his family. The Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished opinion pursuant to Rule 220(b), SCACR. *State v. Stalk*, 2016-UP-341 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 29, 2016).

Mr. Stalk filed a *pro se* application for post-conviction relief (PCR) August 28, 2018. He later filed an amended PCR application May 26, 2020. He was not appointed counsel and did not retain counsel. On October 3, 2020, the State moved to summarily dismiss the application on the basis that there was no genuine issue of material fact to necessitate an evidentiary hearing. On

October 9, 2020, the Court issued a Conditional Order of Dismissal. The application was dismissed with prejudice by an Order dated January 22, 2021 filed by the Honorable Eugene Griffith Jr.

Mr. Stalk filed a second PCR application on January 6, 2023, and an evidentiary hearing was held February 21, 2024, before the Honorable Patrick Cleburne Fant III. This second PCR application was dismissed with prejudice on March 22, 2024, and a notice of appeal was filed with the South Carolina Supreme Court.

ARGUMENT

Did the circuit court err in finding Stalk voluntarily waived his right to appeal the denial of his first post-conviction relief order of dismissal?

Judge Fant committed multiple errors of law when he concluded David Stalk voluntarily waived his right to appeal the denial of his first PCR proceeding (when the circuit court entered a final order of dismissal after the Attorney General’s Office argued Stalk had missed the statute of limitations). To be clear, David Stalk is serving a 45-year sentence of incarceration in SCDC after conviction from his trial and he has not been allowed his right to pursue post-conviction relief at all up to this point.

“This Court gives great deference to the factual findings of the PCR court and will uphold them if there is any evidence of probative value to support them.” *Sellner v. State*, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016) (quoting *Jordan v. State*, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013). “Questions of law are reviewed de novo, and we will reverse the PCR court’s decision when it is controlled by an error of law.” *Id.* (quoting *Jamison v. State*, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014)).

The circuit court’s order of dismissal leaves out the most salient fact about this case—that David Stalk has been diagnosed with severe learning disabilities. As undersigned counsel pointed out to the court during the hearing on whether Stalk would be allowed appellate review of the initial dismissal of his PCR, he has been diagnosed with two learning disabilities—a reading learning disability and a mathematics learning disability.¹ The judge’s order does not even mention “learning disability”—an astounding omission given the nature of Stalk’s claim.

The circuit court’s order is so rife with misunderstandings about the nature of Stalk’s condition that, frankly, it is difficult to identify them all. But, in pertinent part, the circuit court made the following significant errors.

First, the circuit court found Stalk’s educational and psychological reports to lack probative value because they occurred too long ago. App. 683-84. This fundamentally misapprehends the nature of learning disabilities which do not go away.² The judge’s complete disregard of these documents provided by Stalk to the court, based on his mistaken belief they lack probative value, is wrong as a matter of law and provides a basis for this Court to reverse his decision. *See also State v. Blackwell*, 420 S.C. 127, 801 S.E.2d 713 (2017) (acknowledging educational and psychological records have probative value); *State v. Sparkman*, 287 S.C. 489, 339 S.E. 2d 865 (1986) (same); *Kershaw County Dept. of Social Services v. McCaskill*, 276 S.C. 360, 278 S.E.2d 771 (1981) (same).

¹ At a bench conference, the Attorney General’s Office argued that the Court should order that Stalk submit to another IQ test *at his own expense*. This is what counsel objected to as the family is far from wealthy and Stalk is, of course, indigent. Also, it was unnecessary in light of Stalk’s diagnoses of learning disabilities, which unlike IQ scores, are not variable. App. 682.

² According to the US Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, <https://www.nichd.nih.gov/health/topics/learning/conditioninfo> (*last visited* 10/20/2024).

The circuit court also found that Applicant argued he has a “permanent intellectual disability.” App. 685. That is not accurate. Counsel argued, because it is true, that Stalk has a permanent learning disability.

The circuit court found it relevant that “nowhere does the [psycho-educational] report conclusively state Applicant had permanent and fixed cognitive deficits.” App. 685. Why would it? That was not the purpose of the psycho-educational assessment. This remark evinces an astounding unfamiliarity with educational and psychological testing in addition to imposing an unrealistic burden on Stalk to prove his limitations to the satisfaction of Judge Fant such that Judge Fant has concluded that David Stalk voluntarily waived his right to the statutorily guaranteed right to challenge the order of dismissal in his case.

The circuit court also found that since Stalk received a 90% in language arts, App. 685, that this fact somehow undermines his claim of cognitive impairment but ignores the fact that score was earned in a special educational setting after he was removed from mainline public education.

The circuit court treated Stalk’s claim during his sentencing that he graduated from 10th grade as somehow being more probative than what the psychological and educational records clearly demonstrate which is that he did not graduate 10th grade.

The circuit court also appeared to have conducted its own educational and psychological assessment by interpreting Stalk’s “legible, well-written letters” to the Lancaster Clerk of Court without any inquiry at all about whether those letters were written on his behalf by other inmates as is often done in the prison milieu. If the court intended to rely on that evidence to support its finding that Stalk does not have cognitive limitations, it should have given the parties an opportunity to respond to it. App. 686.

Judge Fant’s conclusion that counsel has “offer[ed] pure conjecture,” App. 686, as to Stalk’s current cognitive limitations is wildly inaccurate, and the court’s order frankly reeks of insensitivity bordering on discrimination. Simply because the circuit court has decided that educational records lack probative value, it does not follow that counsel has offered mere “pure conjecture” about the issue.

Throughout his order, Judge Fant refers to the “alleged psychological report conducted by David G. Yarborough, III”, App. 684, and “the uncertified public-school records,” App. 684, as though those documents were falsified and nefariously presented to the court in this matter. Nothing could be further from the truth and the circuit court’s skepticism about the veracity of the records has absolutely no basis in fact. *See State v. Green*, 427 S.C. 223, 830 S.E.2d 711 (Ct. App. 2017) (the standard for authentication is not high).

The circuit court further noted that Stalk received a 90 in Language Arts during the 2002-2003 and claims he was “making progress” and that this fact “does not support a conclusive finding Applicant is presently cognitively impaired to such an extent he was not able to progress past a second/third-grade reading level in the past twenty-two years.” App. 685. Aside from being an inaccurate characterization of the record (see next paragraph), Judge Fant applies the wrong standard of proof for this matter. The question before him was merely whether Stalk knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to an appeal, not whether he has “conclusively” shown cognitive impairment over the past 22 years. This finding is not entitled to any deference by this Court. *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018).

But, additionally, the circuit court cherry-picked facts and has mischaracterized the documents presented. As for the circuit court’s finding that Stalk was “making progress,” that

statement unambiguously referred to Stalk's behavior, not his academic achievement ("He had made great improvements in his behavior... His Grandfather has been involved in conferences and has stated he stays home more and has also improved there as well."). App. 642. But here is what else the court disregarded:

- The 2002 document indicates Stalk was tested by Special Services and an IEP had been developed. App. 642.
- He was placed in resource classes in math and reading.
- That Eastside Academy, where Stalk attended 9th grade, "is a program structured for students with severe behavioral and adaptive deficits in the regular school environment." App. 653.
- "His skill deficits remain." App. 653
- He was determined to have Borderline intellectual functioning. App. 654.
- In 9th grade, he was reading at a low second-grade level which was found to be "considerably below average." App. 655.
- Dr. Yarborough concluded:
Based on the results of this psycho-educational evaluation, David is functioning in the borderline significantly/ severely below average range of academic aptitude and in the significantly below average range of academic achievement. David has a **severe deficit in basic reading comprehension and math reasoning**, according to SC Redbook guidelines. He is eligible for support as a resource student in these areas (emphasis in original). App. 657.

The circuit court also found probative Stalk's claim that he completed 10th grade and that his representations to the court show that he should have been able to comprehend the PCR court's instructions in the Final Order of Dismissal. App. 685-86.

The circuit court committed substantial errors of law while focusing its inquiry into whether David Stalk has intellectual or learning disabilities and not on whether he knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to challenge the order of dismissal in his case that was issued when he

was without counsel. While there is some overlap, the questions are distinct. The circuit court had one issue before it—whether Stalk knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to challenge the order. In response, Stalk showed the court he had hired counsel to pursue this issue. He submitted a letter to the circuit court illustrating that he intended to exercise his statutory right to a PCR proceeding. He presented a Flesch-Kincaid assessment of the letter sent to him informing him of his right to file a PCR after he lost his direct appeal. App. 631. Instead of addressing that issue, the court called the parties to a sidebar where the argument centered on whether Judge Fant was going to order Stalk to submit to a psychological test to assess his IQ at his own expense, as requested by the Attorney General’s Office.

Respectfully, this Court should reverse Judge Fant’s order denying Stalk the right to appeal the denial of his first order of dismissal which occurred when Stalk was not represented by counsel. David Stalk merely asks for the ability to appeal the denial of his first order of dismissal that was filed when he did not have counsel.

CONCLUSION

This Court should reject Judge Fant's conclusion that David Stalk knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to appeal the order of dismissal from his first attempt at receiving a post-conviction relief proceeding.