**RECEIVED**

**Mar 20 2025**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Lancaster County  
Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Trial Judge  
Honorable Patrick C. Fant, III, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

---

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2024-000474

---

David D. Stalk, #358508,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

D. RUSSELL BARLOW, II  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

TALIDA BALAJ  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 106523

Office of the Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
803-734-3737

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

## ARGUMENT

**The post-conviction relief court properly found Petitioner failed to establish he was entitled to belated appellate review of his initial post-conviction relief application, where Petitioner was properly advised of the right to appellate review following the summary dismissal of his initial post-conviction relief action, and Petitioner failed to seek appellate review.**

On appeal, Petitioner argues the second post-conviction relief court committed multiple errors of law in finding that Petitioner voluntarily waived his right to appeal the denial of his initial post-conviction relief action. Specifically, Petitioner argued the second post-conviction relief court committed errors of law in focusing its inquiry on whether Petitioner had a learning disability and not on whether Petitioner voluntarily and knowingly waived his right to appeal his initial post-conviction relief action. Additionally, Petitioner argues the second post-conviction relief court committed an error in finding Petitioner did not have a learning disability, attacking the manner in which the court weighed the evidence. However, in his second post-conviction relief action, Petitioner relied on the fact he had present and fixed cognitive limitations to assert he was entitled to Austin<sup>6</sup> relief, and his application should not be barred by the statute of limitations. Further, what Petitioner asserts are errors of law concerning the second post-conviction relief court's findings as to the existence of a significant cognitive impairment more accurately amount to his dissatisfaction with the court's ultimate denial of relief. The second post-conviction relief court properly found that Petitioner voluntarily waived his right to appeal the denial of his initial post-conviction relief action, where the Final Order of Dismissal advised Petitioner of his right to appeal and the procedure to appeal and where Petitioner failed to provide credible and relevant evidence of an existing sufficient reason for his failure to timely appeal his initial post-conviction relief action.

---

<sup>6</sup> Austin v. State, 305 S.C. 453, 409 S.E.2d 395 (1991).

The Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act filing procedures require an applicant to file a PCR application as follows:

An application for relief filed pursuant to this chapter must be filed within one year after the entry of a judgment of conviction or within one year after the sending of the Remittitur to the lower court from an appeal or the filing of the final decision upon an appeal, whichever is later.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-45. The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that the statute of limitations shall apply to all applications filed after July 1, 1996. Peloquin v. State, 321 S.C. 468, 469 S.E.2d 606 (1996). The statute of limitations does not apply to Austin<sup>7</sup> claims.

Successive applications such as the one before this Court are disfavored. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-90. The Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel does not extend to state post-conviction relief actions. Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722, (1991). The only recognized exception to the rule barring claims of ineffective assistance of post-conviction relief counsel is found in Austin v. State. 305 S.C. 453, 409 S.E.2d 395 (1991). Austin provides for a belated appellate review of an initial post-conviction relief action where prior post-conviction relief counsel fails to timely appeal the denial of the application or Applicant otherwise did not voluntarily and knowingly waive his right to appeal. Id. at 454, 409 S.E.2d at 396; see S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-100 (right to appeal final judgment by post-conviction relief court). But Austin "is limited to its particular factual situation." Aice v. State, 305 S.C. 448, 452, 409 S.E.2d 392, 394 (1991).<sup>8</sup> Where an applicant's action is summarily dismissed, and he is not represented by counsel, the Supreme Court has held that PCR judges are required to inform *pro se* applicants of their right

---

<sup>8</sup> Aice was issued in conjunction with Austin, limiting the reach of Austin and holding "that once a PCR applicant obtains a complete adjudication on the merits of his original application, including an appeal, he may not make successive applications based on ineffective assistance of prior PCR counsel." 305 S.C. at 454 n.1, 409 S.E.2d at 396 n.1.

to appeal and the statute of limitations to appeal. Odom v. State, 337 S.C. 256, 523 S.E.2d 753 (1999).

As the second post-conviction relief court noted, Petitioner's initial post-conviction relief action was untimely,<sup>9</sup> and the Final Order of Dismissal advised Petitioner of his right to appeal and the procedure to appeal. (App. pp. 596, 684); See Odom, 337 S.C. at 262-263 (Establishing rule requiring PCR judges to advise *pro se* Petitioners of their right to appeal and right to appellate counsel).

Clearly, the record established that Petitioner was advised of his rights in the Final Order of Dismissal, as required by Odom. However, Petitioner argued that even though the Final Order of Dismissal advised him of his rights, he did not voluntarily waive his right to appeal as he had a diagnosed learning disability, which prevented him from understanding the initial post-conviction relief court's instruction. (App. pp. 622–23, 631–32). Confusingly, Petitioner now contends the second post-conviction relief court committed an error of law in conflating the question of whether Petitioner voluntarily waived his right to appeal and whether he had a learning disability. Additionally, Petitioner argues that the second post-conviction relief court committed significant errors in the manner in which it weighed the evidence, failing to provide what specific error of law the court committed other than Petitioner's disagreement with its findings.

First, Petitioner avers that the second post-conviction relief court "committed substantial errors of law while focusing its inquiry into whether [Petitioner] has intellectual or learning disabilities and not on whether he knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to

---

<sup>9</sup> The Remittitur from Petitioner's direct appeal was issued in June of 2016, and Petitioner filed his initial post-conviction relief action in August 2018, *over a year* after the statutory time period had passed.

challenge the order of dismissal..." (PWC pp. 8–9). Petitioner admits that the questions overlap but ultimately fails to acknowledge that the foundation of his contention that he did not voluntarily waive his right to appeal depended on his alleged existing cognitive limitations. For instance, in response to Respondent's motion to dismiss at the hearing, Petitioner immediately presented the uncertified school records and argued Petitioner was diagnosed with "significant learning disabilities in both reading comprehension and in mathematics." (App. p. 622). Included in the records was a psychological report, which Petitioner purported to be a psychological evaluation that acknowledged Petitioner's diagnoses of two different learning disabilities. (App. p. 623). Petitioner *relied* on the fact that the records illustrated that the provisions in the Final Order of Dismissal, utilized to protect his right to appeal, were insufficient due to his cognitive limitations. (App. p. 626). Further, in Petitioner's memorandum to the second post-conviction relief court, Petitioner patently argued that he had "provided evidence of [Petitioner's] cognitive limitations to show that untimeliness should be excused in this case." (App. p. 631).

Clearly, Petitioner's claim that he was entitled to an Austin appeal—making his *untimely* applications not subject to the statute of limitations—was predicated on his assertion that his cognitive limitations prevented him from understanding the court's instructions in the Final Order of Dismissal. Now, Petitioner reconstructs the nature of his argument on appeal in a veiled attempt to prompt this Court to overlook the proper deference afforded to the second post-conviction relief court's findings, alleging error where the court considered the integral question Petitioner posed concerning his cognitive impairments. The second post-conviction relief court was required to assess the credibility of Petitioner's claim as to his cognitive impairments to determine the ultimate question—whether Petitioner knowingly and

voluntarily waived his right to appeal. Thus, there was no error of law, as the second post-conviction relief court properly considered the evidence Petitioner provided to the court, ultimately finding Petitioner's contention not credible and that Petitioner was not entitled to relief pursuant to Austin. (App. pp. 685–86).<sup>10</sup>

Second, Petitioner asserts that the second post-conviction relief court's "order is so rife with misunderstandings about the nature of [Petitioner's] condition" and detailed various ways it disagreed with the second post-conviction relief court's findings. (PWC pp. 5–8). Namely, Petitioner contends the second post-conviction relief court erroneously found that Petitioner's educational and psychological reports lacked probative value. In its Order, the second post-conviction relief court found that the psychological report Petitioner relied on was negligibly relevant, as it was completed in 2002—when Petitioner was 12 years old. (App. p. 685). Specifically, the second post-conviction relief court found, "Though the report is minimally relevant, it has lost its probative value because it is too far removed from the issue, whether [Petitioner] has a present cognitive impairment." See State v. Bright, 323 S.C. 221, 473 S.E.2d 851 (Ct. App. 1996); See also State v. Tyner, 273 S.C. 646, 258 S.E.2d 559 (1979) (Agreeing with the trial court that the results of defendant's brain scan, which was performed

---

<sup>10</sup> Petitioner also asserts that the second post-conviction relief court intended to order Petitioner to submit to a psychological evaluation to assess his IQ at the request of the State. (PWC p. 9). This mischaracterizes what took place during the evidentiary hearing and at the bench conference between the parties and the court. After the State argued the remoteness of Petitioner's psychological evaluation, the court questioned the State on how to remedy Petitioner's failure to provide a more recent evaluation. (App. pp. 626–627). The AG's Office ultimately suggested—*not requested*—having Petitioner evaluated so an appropriate determination could be made as to Petitioner's present mental capacity. (App. p. 627). It is telling that Petitioner objected to an evaluation at the bench conference and in his post-hearing memorandum to the court, instead choosing to rely on the uncertified records and on his own conclusory assertions. (App. pp. 630–633).

on defendant 12 years prior to crimes, were too remote in time to be relevant as to issue of defendant's mental capacity on night of the murder.).

Petitioner further argued that this finding "fundamentally misapprehends the nature of learning disabilities which do not go away," citing the National Institute of Health. (PCR p. 5). Notably, nowhere in the article Petitioner cites does it state learning disabilities do not go away, and it even notes, "Learning disabilities can last a person's entire life, but he or she can still be successful with the right educational supports." About Learning Disabilities, Sept. 11, 2018, <https://www.nichd.nih.gov/health/topics/learning/conditioninfo>. Petitioner cites Blackwell,<sup>11</sup> Sparkman,<sup>12</sup> and McCaskill<sup>13</sup> to support his contention, the second post-conviction relief court committed reversible error in finding the psychological report lacked probative value.

However, Blackwell only serves to diminish Petitioner's position. In Blackwell, Blackwell argued, "the trial court erred in making the pre-trial determination that he was

---

<sup>11</sup> State v. Blackwell, 420 S.C. 127, 801 S.E.2d 713 (2017).

<sup>12</sup> In Sparkman, the Supreme Court held that "under the circumstances of this case, the Family Court judge erred in denying appellant's counsel access to the juvenile's record." State v. Sparkman, 287 S.C. 489, 339 S.E.2d 865 (1986) (emphasis added). The circumstances being that counsel had shown "a substantial need and legitimate interest in the juvenile's record, and that he was unable to secure the information from any other source." Sparkman, 287 S.C. at 492, 339 S.E.2d at 867. Sparkman does nothing to support Petitioner's position that the second post-conviction relief court erred in finding his *decades old, uncertified, unauthenticated* school records were irrelevant. Notably, the court in Sparkman held that they made no determination as to the admissibility of the juvenile's records at trial, and in this case, Petitioner had access to his own school records. Id.

<sup>13</sup> McCaskill is a family court case which addressed the admissibility of the appellant's 332-page file from the S.C. School for the Deaf and Blind in the determination of custody of her infant child. Kershaw Cnty. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. McCaskill, 276 S.C. 360, 278 S.E.2d 771 (1981). Ultimately, the Supreme Court held that the portions of appellant's record which contained subjective opinions and judgments was not admissible under the business records exception, as cited *infra* concerning the admissibility of portions of Petitioner's records in this case. McCaskill, 276 S.C. at 362, 278 S.E.2d at 773.

eligible for the death penalty given the evidence 'conclusively demonstrated' that he is mentally retarded." 420 S.C. at 137, 901 S.E.2d at 718. The Supreme Court noted that the trial court considered voluminous evidence, including Blackwell's school records, I.Q. scores, employment records, medical and mental health records, records from immediate family, and interviews with family members and acquaintances. Id. In analyzing the trial court's determination, the Supreme Court stated:

Although Blackwell suggests the trial court committed an error of law in reaching its conclusion, he fails to identify any specific error. Instead, he expresses his disagreement with the trial court's credibility determinations and the weight afforded to the experts' opinions and then appears to argue that these decisions equate to errors of law. Because the trial court is the sole judge of the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be given their testimony, we must defer to the court's determinations. See State v. Kelly, 331 S.C. 132, 149, 502 S.E.2d 99, 108 (1998) (recognizing, in reviewing a trial judge's determination of a defendant's competency to stand trial, that the judge is the sole judge of the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be given their testimony and is entitled to evaluate conflicting testimony).

Id. at 140–41.

Ultimately, the Supreme Court found Blackwell failed to show the trial court committed an error of law or that the trial court's decision was unsupported by evidence. Id. at 143. Likewise, Petitioner does not identify a specific error but complains of the manner the second post-conviction relief court weighed the evidence, hoping this Court will re-evaluate the evidence and decide in his favor. See State v. Heyward, 432 S.C. 296, 314, 852 S.E.2d 452, 461 (Ct. App. 2020), aff'd as modified, 441 S.C. 484, 895 S.E.2d 658 (2023) ("The admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial judge.")

Further, even if the second post-conviction relief court had found the psychological report was relevant, it would constitute inadmissible hearsay. The psychological report,

provided in Petitioner's uncertified records, was allegedly conducted by Dr. David G. Yarborough, III, containing his opinions, judgments, and conclusions. (App. pp. 653–57). However, Dr. Yarborough was not called to testify as to his opinions, and the State was not given the opportunity to cross-examine Dr. Yarborough as to his findings in the report. See Rule 803(8), SCRE; See also Fowler v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 410 S.C. 403, 764 S.E.2d 249 (Ct. App. 2014) (Reports containing opinions, judgments, or conclusions are outside the scope of the public records exception to hearsay rule); see also McCaskill, 276 S.C. at 361–62, 278 S.E.2d at 772–73 (Concluding that appellant's school file contained subjective opinions and judgments, and the portions of the record should have been excluded because appellant was denied the right to cross-examine the maker of the report.)

The second post-conviction relief court properly found that the uncertified records Petitioner provided "do not conclusively support a finding Petitioner is cognitively impaired in that [Petitioner] cannot read, write, or comprehend." (App. p. 685). See, e.g., State v. Mercer, 381 S.C. 149, 166, 672 S.E.2d 556, 565 (2009) ("In this post-trial setting, our jurisprudence recognizes the gatekeeping role of the trial court in making a credibility assessment."). Further, the second post-conviction relief court properly found that Petitioner was not entitled to relief pursuant to Austin and that his application was barred by the statute of limitations. It is Petitioner's burden to show he is entitled to relief, and merely asserting the existence of an intellectual disability without providing credible, relevant, admissible evidence for the second post-conviction relief court to review does not amount to an error of law requiring reversal. See Rule 71,1(e), SCRCP. The findings of the second post-conviction relief court should be given deference, and the court properly found that Petitioner's case did not fall into Austin's particular factual situation that it is limited to.

Therefore, this Court should deny certiorari and uphold the findings of the post-conviction relief court.

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the post-conviction relief court's denial of relief. Should this Court grant certiorari, Respondent requests permission under the rules to brief the issues discussed above fully.